1986

Wagoner v. Waterslide Incorporated : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court fail to properly instruct the jury on the legal duty owed by a possessor of land to a business invitee to warn the invitee about hazardous conditions to be encountered on the land?

2. Did the court fail to instruct the jury about the legal definition of "unreasonable risk" as stated in Section 343, Restatement of Torts, Second?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of the Nature of the Case

Plaintiff appeals from a jury verdict of no cause of action against the defendant and from a denial of plaintiff's motion for a new trial.

Disposition of Case in Lower Court

A jury trial was held in this case on October 2 and 3 1984, the Honorable John F. Wahlquist presiding. The jury was given instructions prepared by the Court asking whether the defendant was negligent in his operation of a waterslide on which plaintiff was injured. Based on the instruction given it, the jury concluded that the defendant was not negligent. Judgment was entered in favor of the defendant. Plaintiff requested a new trial in the case which was denied. An order to that effect was entered on December 14, 1984. An appeal was filed on January 7, 1985.

Statement of Facts

On June 21, 1982 plaintiff Walter Wagoner, family members and some friends went to the Burchcreek Waterslide in Ogden, to use the waterslide facilities. Mr. Wagoner had never before ridden a waterslide. Shortly after arriving at the facility he cut the tendon of his right great toe when his foot went out over the top of the waterslide as he came out of a turn and contacted an unfinished roughened, outer edge of the fiberglass waterslide. At the time of his

injury he was using the waterslide in a proper recommended fashion by sliding on his chest on a rubbermat provided by the facility for that purpose.

The waterslide itself was of fiberglass construction. The top of the waterslide was open. It had been manufactured and installed in 1979 and in operation each summer thereafter.

When the waterslide components were originally manufactured there was a rounded edge at the top of the waterslide which flared out into an unfinished edge of rough fiberglass on each outer edge of the fiberglass sections. (R.29, Exhibits 2P, 3P, 4P and 5P) When the components were assembled into the complete waterslide the rough, unfinished edge of fiberglass extended the entire length of the waterslide along both outer edges of the slide.

At the top of the waterslide is an entry pool from which access is gained to the slide itself. There is a splash pool at the bottom of the waterslide. (R.440) Water flowing down the interior of the waterslide has two functions. First it moistens the fiberglass so a person can slide; secondly it acts to slow a person down by creating a wave of water in front of the slide user which acts as a brake. (R. 440) If the water is prevented from flowing down the slide, leaving only the moist fiberglass, a rider will reach a higher speed. (R.441) Also, a smaller person will

not generally go down the slide as fast as a larger person (R.442) and if several riders join together to form a train they will likewise increase their speed down the waterslide. (R.443) In this case, plaintiff Walter Wagoner was 6'3 $\frac{1}{2}$ " tall and weighed 250 lbs. when injured so he would automatically have gone down the waterslide faster than a normal sized man. (R.443-444)

As a person goes through the curves of a waterslide their momentum propels them upward on the outer edge of the slide as they go through a turn. (R.444-445) In fact, if their speed becomes too great through the curves they can literally pop right out of the top of this kind of waterslide. This had occurred once previously at the Burchcreek Waterslide. (R.447) As a person goes through a turn his arms or legs automatically come in closer proximity to the exposed, unfinished edge of the waterslide with a greater potential for getting cut if an arm or leg extends over the top curved edge of the slide.

The exposed edge of this waterslide, on which plaintiff was cut, is about four inches from the curved top of the waterslide. (R.432 and 437) It was not uncommon for riders to grab the upper, curved edge to slow down (R.437) So it was clearly known and expected that riders arms or legs would routinely be within four inches of the exposed outer edge of rough fiberglass. (R. 437).

The trial testimony of defendant Neal Citte concerning the danger presented by the outer edge of the waterslide is important for purposes of this appeal.

Q. But that edge, if a person were sliding down the waterslide and in motion and a portion of their body--arm, fingers, feet, whatever--came in contact with that unfinished edge, it has the capacity to cut them?

A. Yes. (R. 432)

Mr. Hasenyager: Q. All right. So at least with hands, it is foreseeable that someone would have fingers within four inches of this unfinished edge that Mr. Wagoner was cut on?

A. I've already answered that, yes.

Q. All right. I think then you would agree Mr. Citte, would you not, that that roughened edge is dangerous if a person comes in contact with it?

A. Yes.

Q. And its dangerous of course because a person could get cut?

A. Yes. (R. 439-440)

Q. All right. Now, the answer that you gave me of bordering up the sides too far and actually making it so your body might protrude out of the slide, its a hazard that was known in the use of the waterslide if a person got going fast enough?

A. When you say it was a hazard that was known, I rode the slide before and you know, on anything there's limitations and there's a point you don't feel safe, but when. . . . I rode the slide, I felt there was a point of being safe and unsafe.

Q. All right. Let's talk about the point where a person becomes unsafe riding the slide. Where a person becomes unsafe is when the speed builds up far enough that they rise up to the wall and they are put in close proximity to this roughened edge where they can become cut, isn't that true?

A. That's true.

Q. So one of the dangers of this slide, which is known to you as the owner, was that the roughened edge. The outside edge posed a danger to sliders who come in proximity with it?

A. That's why we told them not to hold the water back. (R.448-449)

Q. All right. But as a parallel to that, you've already told us that edge was roughened, that it was dangerous, you considered it so, and that is a hazard of the slide, right?

A. Yes. (R.450)

Q. Now Mr. Citte, when a person is riding the waterslide--you've seen a lot of people go down that slide, haven't you?

A. Fair share.

Q. Okay. There are times when an inexperienced person could lose control of their arms or legs as they go through the curves, aren't there? Is it fair to say that could happen?

A. It would be fair to say an inexperienced person could lose control. When you say their arms or legs would protrude like you're trying to infer--

Q. Well, I haven't said that. My question is only that they could lose control of where their arms or legs are, isn't that true?

A. I guess it's possible, sure.

Q. And in fact, that's not an uncommon thing either is it? People hit those curves and they'll--their arms will go one direction and/or their feet or another arm may go up over that edge. That's not uncommon?

A. No, I wouldn't --when you say it's not uncommon, I've seen it happen, sure.

Q. You've seen it happen, you knew it does happen from time to time.

A. Sure.

Q. It's an expected occurrence, right?

A. It can happen, sure.

Q. Okay. In those circumstances where somebody loses their control of their arms, their arms could go all different directions and the same with their legs, isn't that true?

A. I imagine.

Q. Okay. That is a known and expected circumstance in riding the waterslide, isn't it?

A. It's happened.

Q. Okay. And that can happen when a person is riding the slide correctly without holding the water back, can't it?

A. I think it could happen (R.458-459)

Q. All right. And the third question is that you never warned any of the users of the waterslide about a risk or hazard of getting cut if their arms or legs protruded out over that edge?

A. No. (R.460)

Q. So you're not meaning to imply that the average rider or the first-time rider, like Mr. Wagoner was, would look at that edge and a light would go on in his head and he'd say you know, better keep my arms and legs in because I could get cut; you're not implying that, are?

A. No, I have not implied that. (R. 495)

From the excerpts of Mr. Citte's testimony cited above it is clear that Mr. Wagoner was injured in a foreseeable manner when his foot came into contact with a dangerous condition of the waterslide, known to exist by the slide owner, who had not warned slide users about the hazard.

It was the defendant's contention at trial that because no one had been previously injured in a similar fashion the risk of injury was not unreasonable and he therefore had no legal duty to warn users about the hazard, nor any responsibility to guard the hazard or remove it.

The trial court then prepared its own special verdict jury instructions which contained the following interrogatory number 1:

Do you find it proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant was negligent in the manner in which he used the slides with the edge as it was and did he expose the plaintiff to an unreasonable risk of injury?
(R.351)

The interrogatory was followed by an explanation prepared by the trial judge. (R. 351-352)

Plaintiff's Objections were taken to the courts proposed instruction (R. 498-503) and in partinent part were made primarily because the explanations given in conjunction with the first interrogatory did not inform the jury that the defendant had an affirmative duty to, at a minimum, warn slide users of known hazards they would encounter in using the waterslide. Also, the jury was given no guidance as to the legal definition of "unreasonable risk" nor the factors to be considered in determining whether or not a risk was unreasonable.

Summary of Argument

The jury was improperly insturcted on the law concerning the duty of a possessor of land to a business invi-tee because they were not informed that the possessor of land has an affirmative duty to warn invitees about hazar-dous conditions they will encounter on the land in cir-cumstances where the hazard it not obvious and the jury was not instructed about the nature of an unreasonable risk.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT CORRECTLY INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE DUTY OWED BY THE POSSESSOR OF LAND TO A BUSINESS INVITEE TO WARN THE INVITEE ABOUT HAZARDOUS CONDITIONS TO BE ENCOUNTERED ON THE LAND.

Section 343, Restatement of Torts, Second States:

§ 343. Dangerous Conditions Known to or Discoverable by Possessor.

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm caused to his invitees by a condition on the land if, but only if, he

- a) Knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and
- b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and
- c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

The comment notes to Section 343 in pertinent part say that the invitee on land

. . . He is entitled to expect such care not only in the original construction of the premises, and any activities of the possessor or his employees which may affect their condition, but also in inspection to discover their actual condition and any latent defects, followed by such repair, safeguards, or warning as may be reasonably necessary for his protection under the circumstances. (emphasis added)

. . . To the invitee the possessor owes not only this duty, but also the additional duty to exercise reasonable affirmative care to see that the premises are safe for the reception of the visitor, or at least to ascertain the condition of the land and to give such warning that the visitor may decide intelligently whether or not to accept the invitation, or may protect himself against the danger if he does accept it. (emphasis added)

It is clear from the language of the Restatement Comments that once a possessor of land knows of a dangerous condition on the land he must, at a minimum, give the invitee a warning about the hazard if he chooses not to remove or guard against the hazard.

This was the precise holding in Odell v. Cook's

Market, Inc., 432 S.W. 2d 382 (Mo. App. 1968). The plaintiff fell in a store when she slipped on a mixture of water and lettuce or cabbage leaves. The Court cited Section 343 of the Restatement and said that the defendant had "the alternate duty either to remove the wet leaves that created the dangerous condition or warn Mrs. O'Dell of the dangerous condition that existed on the floor."

This case is significant for two reasons. First, dangerous condition is used synonymously with unreasonable risk of harm, the specific language of Section 343. i.e. a dangerous condition creates an unreasonable risk of harm unless corrected or warned about. Secondly, it recognizes the affirmative nature of the duty to remove the dangerous condition or warn about it. Either conduct fulfills the affirmative duty of care. Ignoring the dangerous condition does not.

In the instruction given by the trial court in this case, the affirmative duty to warn slide users about a known dangerous condition was ignored by the court. Also, the court simply asked the two part question was the defendant negligent in his use of the slide with the edge as it was and did the defendant expose plaintiff to an unreasonable risk of injury.

If there does actually exist an affirmative duty under Section 343 to warn slide users about a known

dangerous condition then the defendant was negligent as a matter of law in this instance because he clearly knew of the hazard and failed to warn plaintiff or anyone else about the hazard.

If the issue of negligence must be analyzed from the standpoint of whether the risk was unreasonable before the minimum duty to warn about a known dangerous condition arises then the instruction given by the court was still inadequate because it did not define unreasonable risk.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ABOUT THE LEGAL DEFINITION OF UNREASONABLE RISK OR THE FACTORS TO BE CONSIDERED IN DECIDING WHETHER OR NOT A RISK IS UNREASONABLE.

Under Section 291, Restatement of Torts, Second a risk is unreasonable and the act (or here omission) negligent if the risk is of such magnitude as to outweigh what the law regards as the utility of the act or of the particular manner in which it is done. In determining the utility of the act under Section 292, Restatement of Torts, Second there must be some social value advanced or protected by leaving an unfinished, roughened fiberglass edge on the waterslide when that edge had the recognized capacity to cause injury if contacted. Or, some particular social value in failing or justifying the failure to warn slide users about the edge so they could take reasonable steps to pro-

tect themselves from contracting the edge if they chose to use the waterslide.

It is difficult to see any utility or social value of any kind that would justify or excuse the failure to warn in this instance. The defendant attempted at trial to excuse his failure to warn patrons about the edge by testifying that over a million rides had taken place down the waterslide without anyone previously being cut like plaintiff. That, of course, is not a complete test of utility or social value in this case. The test is whether the defendant had any public or private interest that was advanced or protected by failing to warn about the hazardous condition. It includes the magnitude of the risk, the possible extent of harm or injury that might result to a user and a consideration of individual and societal rights and obligations. i.e. is there any social utility or value in exposing slide users to the risk of injury by being cut on a known, dangerous, unfinished, outer edge of the waterslide. Matthews v. Ashland Chemical, Inc., 703 F. 2d 921, 924 (1983). Moning v. Alfono, 254 N.W. 2d 759, 770 (1977). When a known hazard is present that could be easily warned about there is no possible public or private interest belonging to the defendant which was greater than the general public interest in having waterslide users ride the waterslide free of injury or at a minimum with full disclo-