1986

Walter Wagoner v. Waterslide Incorporated, Burchcreek Waterslide : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The affirmative duty of a possessor of land to exercise reasonable care to protect invitees by warning or repair, extends only to conditions or activities on the land which present an unreasonable risk of harm. The jury found that the condition of

which plaintiff complains did not involve unreasonable risk of harm. Therefore, the jury was not required to reach the question of whether defendant breached a duty to warn, and any lack of instruction to the jury on duty to warn was harmless to the outcome.

In any event, there was no duty to warn of this condition which was as open and obvious to plaintiff as to defendant.

Plaintiff waived any claim of error in the jury instructions on the definition of unreasonable risk because he did not object to the instructions given by the court, nor did he request the instructions he urges for the first time on appeal.

The court instructed the jury properly and adequately on the definition of unreasonable risk and the definition of negligence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON DUTY TO WARN.

Plaintiff asserts that the trial court did not correctly instruct the jury on the duty to warn about hazardous conditions. Any claim of inadequate instruction to the jury on the duty to warn is a claim of harmless error, because having found the condition of the water slide not to be an unreasonable risk, the jury was not required to reach the separate issue of whether defendant had given adequate warning of the condition.

The standards for determining legal liability in this case are set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965) as follows:

TITLE E. SPECIAL LIABILITY OF POSSESSORS
OF LAND TO INVITEES

§343. Dangerous Conditions Known to or
Discoverable by Possessor

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm caused to his invitees by a condition on the land if, but only if, he

(a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and

(b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and

(c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

Jury Instruction Forms for Utah states the rule in substantially the same terms:

43.10

Duty Toward Business Visitor

One who extends to a business visitor [invitee] an invitation, express or implied, [is] obliged to refrain from acts of negligence and to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises in a condition reasonably safe for the business visitor [invitee] [and for any chattels brought to the premises by him [her] in the reasonable pursuit of a purpose embraced within the invitation].

In the absence of appearances that caution [him], or would caution a reason-

ably prudent person in like position, to the contrary, the business visitor [invitee] has a right to assume that the premises he [she] was invited to enter are reasonably safe for the purposes for which the invitation was extended, and to act on that assumption.

But the responsibility of one having control of the premises is not absolute; it is not that of an insurer. If there is danger attending upon the entry, or upon the work which the business visitor [invitee] is to do on the premises, and if such danger arises from conditions not readily apparent to the senses, and if the owner [occupant] has actual knowledge of them, or if they are discoverable by [him] [it] in the exercise of ordinary care, it is [his] duty to give reasonable warning of such danger to the business visitor [invitee]. The owner [occupant] is not bound to discover defects which reasonable inspection would not disclose, and [he] is entitled to assume that the business visitor [invitee] will perceive that which would be obvious to [him] upon the ordinary use of [his] own senses. There is no duty to give the business visitor [invitee] notice of an obvious danger.

Plaintiff's claim of error by the court in not instructing the jury on duty to warn is at best harmless error. Before the jury reached the question of the duty owed by defendant to its business patrons to exercise reasonable care to protect them by repair or warning of conditions on the premises which present an unreasonable risk of harm, the jury had to decide the question of whether the condition of the slide in fact amounted to an unreasonable risk. It found that the edge of the slide did not create an unreasonable risk, so that under the law there was no duty to repair or warn of the condition. Therefore,

any discussion of possible duty of the business proprietor to repair or warn is immaterial, and any possible error with respect to instruction on the duty of defendant to protect against unreasonable risk of danger is at best harmless error.

Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides:

No error . . . in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court . . . is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

It is well established that the refusal to give an instruction cannot be the basis for reversal unless the jury was insufficiently advised of the issue they were to determine, or it appears that they would have been confused or misled to the prejudice of the appealing party. In Re Richards Estate, 5 Utah 2d 106, 297 P.2d 542 (1956). Likewise, a jury verdict will be reversed only if the alleged error was substantial and prejudicial to the appellant's rights and there is a reasonable likelihood that injustice or unfairness has resulted. Ewell & Son, Inc. v. Salt Lake City Corp., 27 Utah 2d 188, 493 P.2d 1283 (1972). There must be shown a reasonable likelihood that in the absence of error, the result would have been different. Ortega v. Thomas, 144 Utah 2d 296, 383 P.2d 406 (1963).

Defendant's duties toward invitees like plaintiff are limited to those risks which are unreasonable. It is well

established that the owner of property is not to be regarded as an insurer for an invitee upon his property. His duties toward invitees are limited to those risks which are unreasonable. Steele v. Denver & Rio Grande, 16 Utah 2d 127, 396 P.2d 751 (1964). With respect to the duty of care required of owners and occupiers of land toward invitees, Professor Prosser observed that, "There is no liability for harm resulting from conditions from which no unreasonable risk was to be anticipated." Prosser, Law of Torts, 4th Ed., p. 393. These statements of the law point out the distinction between two types of risk of harm from activities or conditions encountered in daily life. On the one hand are risks of harm which under all the circumstances are not unreasonable, even though there may be a remote possibility of injury. With respect to these risks, there is no duty owed by the possessor of land. On the other hand, there are conditions which under all the circumstances present an unreasonable risk of harm, sometimes referred to in the cases as a dangerous condition or a hazardous condition. It is only with respect to such unreasonable risks of harm that the law imposes a duty on the possessor of land to exercise reasonable care to protect invitees against the danger by warning or repair. For this reason, the issue of reasonable care by the property owner becomes material only if the condition on the property presented an unreasonable risk of harm to invitees.

Restatement of the law, Torts §343 (1965) set forth above provides that a possessor of land is liable to a business

visitor only if he (a) knows or should know of the condition and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm; and (b) should expect that visitors will not discover the danger and protect themselves; and (c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger. If the jury finds as it did in this case that the requirement of part (a) was not proved, then it is entirely unnecessary for the jury to go on to consider the requirements of part (b) as well as part (c), which is the requirement of reasonable care to protect business visitors, and which would include the duty to repair or warn, which plaintiff claims was not presented to the jury by instruction.

Warning is only one means available to the possessor of land to exercise reasonable care to protect invitees against the danger presented by a condition on the land which involves an unreasonable risk of harm. The occupier of land may also make the premises reasonably safe by repair. But repair or warning are necessary only where there is an unreasonable risk, and their purpose is to render the premises reasonably safe [Restatement (Second) of Torts §343 (1965) comment (d)] not absolutely safe from all possibility of injury whatsoever.

The jury found based on competent admissible evidence that the water slide did not present an unreasonable risk of injury. Thus it found the water slide was not so dangerous as to invoke a duty on defendant to exercise reasonable care to protect plaintiff, as by repair or warning.

Although plaintiff does not challenge directly the suf-

iciency of the evidence to support the verdict, plaintiff does point to testimony of Mr. Neal Citte, part owner and operator of the water slide at the time of the accident, as showing in plaintiff's view that the water slide was dangerous so as to require warning or repair. However, plaintiff overlooks substantial competent evidence on which the jury was entitled to reach the opposite conclusion which it did reach, that the water slide did not expose plaintiff to an unreasonable risk of injury. That evidence includes the following:

The fiberglass edge was not sharp or razorlike. It was simply the unfinished end of the piece of fiberglass, about one-eighth inch thick, unfinished so that it was not smooth to the touch. (R. p. 432) A person can rub the edge with his hand without being cut. (R. p. 567)

There was substantial evidence that riders of the water slide are able to control their arms and legs during the ride if they want to, in order to keep their hands and feet from coming anywhere near the unfinished edge. (Testimony of Neal Citte, R. pp. 471-472, 496; Testimony of former employee Barbara Lippold, R. pp. 518-519, 523, 529; Testimony of former employee Betty Durban Mayo, R. pp. 577, 578)

There was substantial evidence that in the absence of horseplay, riders' arms and legs do not come close to the outside edge, and plaintiff was guilty of horseplay in violation of posted written rules and repeated verbal warnings by employees. In particular, it is possible to hold back the gentle flow of

water down the slide by using the plastic mats as a dam or dike at the starting pool, thereby making the slide much more slippery, resulting in a faster ride. The speed of a faster ride throws the rider into the curves with more force, causing the rider to bank higher on the side of the slide. A large sign warned not to do this. Employees observed plaintiff and his group holding back the water in this way and warned them to stop. Plaintiff laughed at the employees, continued to misbehave, and acted as if he was not concerned. (R. pp. 449-451, 514-516, 523, 526-527, 543-544, 573-575, 585-586; Exhibit 26D)

The openness and obviousness of the fiberglass edge to users of the slide is evidence that it did not present an unreasonable risk of injury, in view of the evidence cited above that riders are able to control their arms and legs to avoid coming close to the edge if they wish to do so. This fiberglass edge is uniform along both sides of the slide along the full length of the slide from beginning to end. There was testimony the condition was open and obvious to any rider from the time he approached the entry pool to get on the slide. Plaintiff rode the slide from top to bottom on five or six rides before he was injured, and each time as he entered the slide and as he rode it, he saw what was there to be seen. (R. pp. 481-482, 497, 539-542)

Although the absence of prior injuries caused by the fiberglass edge is not controlling on the issue of whether the condition presented an unreasonable risk of injury, such evidence certainly may be considered by the jury. Typical injuries on the

water slide include occasional minor cuts and bruises from riders colliding with each other or with the side wall of the slide. However, in three and one-half years of operation before this accident, as many as 700,000 rides down the slide had not resulted in anyone being cut on the fiberglass edge. Since the accident, as many as another 400,000 rides have been taken in two years up to the time of trial without another such injury. (R. pp. 463, 467, 474-476, 554, 560, 561, 576)

The only expert opinion in evidence at trial on the issue of liability was that the fiberglass edge was not an unreasonable risk to users of the water slide. (Testimony of Val T. Stratford, R. p. 561; Testimony of Neal Citte, R. p. 476)

Plaintiff's brief quotes testimony by Mr. Citte that it is possible for persons riding the water slide to lose control of their arms or legs and allow them to hang over the edge of the slide. However, Mr. Citte also testified about his experience with the water slide and his familiarity with it, and that he did not recognize the risk of an arm or a leg being cut by the fiberglass edge as being a hazard, although it could happen. He did not post a warning about the fiberglass edge because he did not feel it presented a problem to users of the water slide, unless they held back the water in violation of the rules. (R. pp. 449-452, 481)

Based on the above evidence, the jury was entitled to conclude that the fiberglass edge did not amount to an unreasonable risk of harm to plaintiff. Consequently, defendant had no

legal duty to repair or warn of the condition. The absence of instruction to the jury on the duty to warn was harmless to the outcome of the trial, and is not a ground for ordering a new trial.

POINT II

THERE WAS NO DUTY TO WARN OF THE CONDITION
OF THE WATER SLIDE WHICH WAS AS OPEN AND
OBVIOUS TO PLAINTIFF AS TO DEFENDANT.

Even assuming the unfinished edge beyond the lip on each side of the water slide had amounted to a condition which was hazardous or dangerous, there is no duty to warn where the condition is as easily observable to the invitee as to the owner.

Restatement (Second) of Torts §343A (1965) states:

§343A. Known or Obvious Dangers.

(1) A possessor of land is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness.

Comment (c) to that section adds:

The possessor's activities may involve a risk which is known or obvious to those who enter his land, either because the risk is inherent in the nature of the activity itself, or because they are aware that it is carried on in a manner which involves risks that are not necessarily inherent in such activities.

Comment (b) adds:

. . . "obvious" means that both the condition and the risk are apparent to and would be recognized by a reasonable man,

in the position of the visitor, exercising ordinary perception, intelligence, and judgment.

In Ellertson v. Dansie, 576 P.2d 867 (Utah 1978), this rule was applied to affirm summary judgment for defendant where plaintiff was injured when he tried to help free a horse which had become entangled in a chain because of defendant's alleged negligence in tying the horse to a post. In Steele v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Co., supra, this court affirmed dismissal as a matter of law of the claim by an automobile driver who was struck by a train in a railroad crossing after approaching under conditions which gave the driver a normal opportunity to see and hear the approach of the train.

Likewise in this case, there was no duty to warn of the fiberglass edge because of the obviousness of the condition, and plaintiff cannot complain of the court's decision not to give an instruction on the duty to warn.

The cases cited by plaintiff are not on point. In O'Dell v. Cook's Market, Inc., 432 S.W.2d 382 (Mo.App. 1968), the court in fact affirmed a directed verdict against plaintiff and in favor of defendant in a slip and fall claim, on the grounds that the substance on the floor of defendant's market was a condition which was as obvious and well known to plaintiff as to defendant. In that case, the court referred to the mixture of water and lettuce or cabbage leaves on the floor of a grocery market as being a dangerous condition which would invoke a duty by defendant to remove the substance or warn customers. While

the existence of slippery foreign substance on the floors of retail stores may in some cases create an unreasonable risk of danger toward invitees, nevertheless the fiberglass edge of the water slide is an entirely different condition, and plaintiff's reliance on language in the O'Dell case about duty to warn of dangerous conditions begs the question of whether the edge of the water slide was a dangerous condition, which question the jury answered in the negative. Matthews v. Ashland Chemical, Inc., 703 F.2d 921 (5th Cir. 1983), was plaintiff's appeal from summary judgment in favor of certain defendants. Plaintiff was injured in a propane gas explosion caused by an electric spark from the motor of a water cooler leased by defendant Ozone Waters, Inc. and on the premises of defendant Ashland Chemical, Inc. The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment in favor of Ozone but reversed the summary judgment in favor of Ashland Chemical, finding there was a question of fact for the trier of fact on whether Ashland had created an unreasonable risk of harm to plaintiff. As it may apply to the instant case, this opinion is authority that an injured plaintiff is required to prove that "the risk from which his damage resulted posed an unreasonable risk of harm." 703 F.2d at 924. In the instant case, that question was presented to the jury which answered in the negative. In Moning v. Alfano, 254 N.W.2d 759 (Mich. 1977), the Michigan Supreme Court reversed summary judgment for defendants and remanded for trial, holding there was a jury question on whether defendants created an unreasonable risk of harm in

marketing slingshots directly to children. Again, this decision is authority that the issue of whether particular conduct amounts to an unreasonable risk of harm is a question of fact for the jury. Although the Michigan Supreme Court discussed the restatement factors of balancing the utility of conduct and the magnitude of the risk in determining whether the summary judgment should be reversed, nowhere did the court suggest that the factors bearing on utility of conduct and magnitude of risk must be presented to the jury in instructions at trial.

POINT III

PLAINTIFF MAY NOT COMPLAIN ABOUT THE JURY
INSTRUCTIONS DEFINING UNREASONABLE RISK
BECAUSE HE DID NOT MAKE A MEANINGFUL
OBJECTION TO THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN AND
DID NOT REQUEST THE INSTRUCTION HE URGES
ON APPEAL.

Point II of appellant's brief on appeal argues that the trial court failed to instruct the jury about the legal definition of unreasonable risk or the factors to be considered in deciding whether or not a risk is unreasonable, along the lines of the balancing test between social utility on the one hand and the magnitude of risk of injury on the other hand, of §§291 and 292, Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965).

However, at the trial of this case appellant offered to the court no proposed instructions to the jury which dealt with any such definition of reasonable risk and unreasonable risk. Further, the objections which plaintiff stated to the jury instructions given by the court do not contain any reference to

the supposed lack of instruction on the definition of reasonable risk and unreasonable risk. (R. pp. 500-503)

Rule 51, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that the court shall give the parties an opportunity to make objections, and they shall be made, out of the hearing of the jury and before the jury retires to consider its verdict.

No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto. In objecting to the giving of an instruction, a party must state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection.

It is well established that a party on appeal may not assign as error either the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he first proposes a correct instruction. If the court fails to give the requested instruction, the complaining party must then have made exception on the record in terms specific enough to give the trial court notice of every error in the court's instructions which is complained of on appeal.

E. A. Strout Western Realty Agency, Inc. v. W. C. Foy & Sons, Inc., 665 P.2d 1320 (Utah 1983); Snyderville Transportation Co., Inc. v. Christiansen, 609 P.2d 939 (Utah 1980); DeBry & Hilton Travel Services, Inc. v. Capitol International Airways, Inc., 583 P.2d 1181 (Utah 1978); Kesler v. Rogers, 542 P.2d 354 (Utah 1975); Williamson v. Denver & Rio Grande Railway Co., 487 P.2d 316, 26 Utah 2d 178 (1971); State Road Comm. v. Kendell, 438 P.2d 178, 20 Utah 2d 356 (1968).

A claim of error, in regard to failure to instruct the

jury on a certain theory, cannot be claimed for the first time on appeal. Maltby v. Cox Constr. Co., Inc., 598 P.2d 336 (Utah 1979), cert. denied 100 S.Ct. 306, 444 U.S. 945, 26 L.Ed.2d 314.

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